THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE Supreme COURT

RECEIVED

Jan 18 2024

S.C. SUPREME COURT

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS

Marvin H. Dukes, III, Special Circuit Judge

Case No. 2023-000385
Court of Appeals Opinion No. 5947

On Writ of Certiorari
to the South Carolina Court of Appeals

Richard Walter Meier and the Estate of
William Carl Meier, by and through
Conrad Meier, its Personal Representative, Respondents,

v.

Mary J. Burnsed, Petitioner.

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

James B. Richardson, Jr.
1620 Gervais Street
Columbia, SC 29201
(803) 600-6375
jbrcolumbia@gmail.com

Peggy McMillan Infinger
Belk Cobb Infinger & Goldstein
P.O. Box 71121
Charleston, SC 29415

QUESTION PRESENTED

Does the revocation-of-beneficiary provision of Act No. 100 of 2013 apply in the case of a divorce entered before the act was passed?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In 1998, William Meier took out a \$250,000 policy of life insurance, naming his wife Mary as beneficiary and his brother Richard as contingent beneficiary.

The parties divorced in 2002. Mr. Meier died of a heart attack on December 26, 2017, having made no change in beneficiary following divorce.

This interpleader action regarding entitlement to Mr. Meier's life insurance proceeds commenced on February 5, 2018 with a summons and complaint filed in Beaufort County Court of Common Pleas by Richard Meier and Conrad Meier against Mary J. Burnsed and the insurance company's successor. Richard Meier, the policy's contingent beneficiary, claimed that Act No. 100 of 2013 applied so as to revoke his brother's designation of Mary Burnsed as beneficiary when the parties divorced in 2002.

Both sides moved for summary judgment, stipulating that the operative facts are undisputed.

Richard Meier's motion for summary judgment was heard and denied by the Honorable Perry M. Buckner, III, Presiding Judge of the Fourteenth Judicial Circuit, by Order dated August 10, 2018. [R. 17.]

Mary Burnsed's motion for summary judgment did not appear on the motions roster at Judge Buckner's term. The Burnsed motion for summary judgment was heard at a later term and was granted by the Honorable Marvin H. Dukes, III, Presiding Judge of the Fourteenth Judicial Circuit, by Order dated March 25, 2019. [R. 1.]

The court of appeals reversed Judge Dukes' order in an opinion entered on September 28, 2022, holding that the revocation-upon-divorce provision of Act No. 100 of 2013 applied retroactively to the parties' 2002 divorce.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In Act No. 100 of 2013, the General Assembly extensively revised the probate code and consolidated the trust provisions of the code into a new trust code. Among the non-probate provisions of the act was section 4(B)(5), codified as section 62-2-507, which provides that divorce revokes a spouse's designation of his or her spouse as a life insurance beneficiary. The effective date of Act No. 100 was January 1, 2014.

Mary Burnsed and William Meier divorced in 2002. As sometimes happens, they did better together as ex-spouses than they had as spouses. For example, fourteen years after the divorce, William sent a message to Mary saying:¹

You do not realize how much I love and respect you. Miss you so much it hurts.

These ex-spouses stayed in regular touch during the fifteen years between divorce and William's death, visiting one another frequently.² In a sample period from May 2015 to December 2017, texts and e-mails numbered in the hundreds, in addition to the phone calls.

Sixteen months before his death, William was reminded that he could easily change his beneficiary if he wished to do so. He did not.³

During the fifteen years following divorce, William wrote approximately 180 monthly checks of \$200.00 each to TransAmerica,⁴ knowing each time he wrote a check that Mary continued to be his beneficiary.

* * * * *

The history of these parties' relationship in the fifteen years between divorce and

¹ Burnsed affidavit of July 2, 2018, Exhibit B, page 51 [R. 229].

² Burnsed affidavits of July 2, 2018 [R.140], Exhibits A [R. 141] and B [R. 178], and May 31, 2018 [R. 133].

³ *Cf. Duncan v. Investors Diversified Services, Inc.*, 285 S.C. 467, 471, 330 S.E.2d 295, 297 (1985): The policyholder "was acutely aware of the matters he wanted changed and those he wanted to remain unchanged."

⁴ Complaint, Exh. 1, p. 3 [R. 62].

William’s death created no genuine issue of material fact. The parties’ cross-motions for summary judgment signified their agreement that the issue was a matter of law. *Wiegand v. U.S. Auto Ass’n*, 391 S.C. 159, 163, 705 S.E.2d 432, 434 (2011). As the respondents assured the circuit court: “The operative facts in this case are undisputed.”⁵

It makes no difference what other people think an insured should have done or meant to do or might have been likely to do. A life insurance beneficiary designation can only be changed by substantial compliance with the procedure prescribed in the policy. *Wilkie v. Philadelphia Life Ins. Co.*, 187 S.C. 382, 197 S.E. 375, 382 (1938), and many other cases. Mr. Meier’s policy provided in the usual way that the identity of the beneficiary could only be changed by written notice from the insured, accepted by the insurer.⁶ That was never done in the fifteen years between divorce and death.

Mary Burnsed is the beneficiary unless Act No. 100 of 2013 nullified her status.

ARGUMENT

I.

Everything in Act No. 100 points to prospective application.

This Court’s cases have proved from the start that a statute’s **words** are the gold standard in the search for legislative intent.⁷

The Legislature may expressly prescribe retroactive application — a rare thing. Applying South Carolina law, the Fourth Circuit observed:

⁵ Respondents’ Memorandum of June 25, 2018, p. 2 [R. 116].

⁶ Complaint, Exh. 1, p. 6 [R. 67], “GENERAL PROVISIONS – BENEFICIARY”.

⁷ Justice Frankfurter told his law students to search for legislative intent in three steps:

- (1) Read the statute;
- (2) read the statute;
- (3) read the statute!

Goldring v. District of Columbia, 416 F.3d 70, 77 (D.C. Cir. 2005) (per Karen Henderson, J., quoting the Justice’s “threefold imperative to law students,” found in HENRY J. FRIENDLY, BENCHMARKS 202 (1967)).

The standard for express prescription [of retroactive application] is “a demanding one,” requiring prescription that is truly express and unequivocal. See *INS v. St. Cyr*, 533 U.S. 289, 316, 121 S.Ct. 2271, 150 L.Ed.2d 347 (2001).

Ward v. Dixie Nat'l Life Ins. Co., 595 F.3d 164, 173 (4th Cir. 2010).

Nothing in Act No. 100 suggests — much less, prescribes — an intent to apply the revocation-on-divorce provision retroactively. Every relevant part of this statute points to the usual intention of prospective application.

A. Effective date.

Section 4(A) specifies the effective date of Act 100 — January 1, 2014.

Canvassing South Carolina law, the Fourth Circuit concluded:

[South Carolina] courts have repeatedly held that the inclusion of an effective date is inconsistent with legislative intent to apply the statute retroactively. See, e.g., *S.C. Dept. of Revenue v. Rosemary Coin Machines, Inc.*, 339 S.C. 25, 528 S.E.2d 416, 418 (2000); *Pulliam v. Doe*, 246 S.C. 106, 142 S.E.2d 861, 863 (1965).

Ward v. Dixie Nat'l Life Ins. Co., 595 F.3d 164, 175 (4th Cir. 2010) (applying South Carolina law). Accord: *Schall v. Sturn, Ruger Co.*, 278 S.C. 646, 300 S.E.2d 735, 737 (1983); *Hyder v. Jones*, 271 S.C. 85, 245 S.E.2d 123 (1978).

Federal law is the same. The prescription of a future effective date does not even arguably suggest retroactive application of anything in the statute. *Landgraf v. USI Film Products, Inc.*, 511 U.S. 244, 257, 114 S.Ct. 1483, 128 L.Ed.2d 229 (1994).

B. Present tense verb.

Section 62-2-507(c) provides:

[T]he divorce . . . revokes any revocable . . . beneficiary designation

(Emphasis added.)

Throughout the South Carolina Code, “all words importing the present tense shall apply to the future” S.C. Code Ann. § 2-7-30. A *future* divorce will revoke. A *past* divorce did not.

Other courts have rejected retroactive intent where the statutory verb is present

tense.

[T]he legislature's use of present tense further belies plaintiffs' contention that the legislature intended retrospective application. [T]he legislature is fully capable of expressing its intent clearly as evidenced by the explicit language used in other statutes to specify retroactive application.

Chance v. American Honda Motor Co., 635 So.2d 177, 179 (La. 1994). *Accord*: *Bennett v. Procnier*, 262 Cal.App.2d 799, 69 Cal.Rptr. 116 (1968); *Hyle v. Porter*, 117 Ohio St.3d 165, 882 N.E.2d 899 (2008); *Strategic Env'tl. Partners, LLC v. New Jersey Dept. of Env'tl. Protection*, 438 N.J.Super. 125, 102 A.3d 939, 948 (2014).

C. Temporal provisions.

Act No. 100 of 2013 massively revises the probate code and consolidates trust provisions into a new trust code. The revocation-on-divorce provision stands apart from these primary components of the law.

Five provisions of Act 100 specify the temporal application of some parts of the act.

None of them suggest retroactive application of the revocation-on-divorce provision:

- The probate code provisions apply to **estates of decedents dying after January 1, 2014**. Act No. 100, sec. 4(B)(1).

Mr. Meier's insurance policy proceeds are not part of his estate. Act No. 100 defines probate estate to mean "the decedent's property passing under the decedent's will," etc. S.C. Code Ann. § 62-2-202. Life insurance is a non-probate asset passing outside the insured's estate. *Spence v. Wingate*, 395 S.C. 148, 716 S.E.2d 920, 925 n.11 (2011).

- The probate code provisions govern **judicial proceedings concerning estates of decedents** commenced on or after January 1, 2014. Act No. 100, sec. 4(B)(2).

This insurance interpleader is not a "judicial proceeding concerning the estate" of William Meier. Mr. Meier's estate has no interest in the outcome of this action.⁸

- The probate code provisions govern **judicial proceedings concerning estates of decedents and trusts commenced before January 1, 2014** unless retroactive application would be prejudicial. Act No. 100, sec. 4(B)(3).

This action was commenced in 2018, but does not concern Mr. Meier's estate in any event.

⁸ The estate's personal representative joined his uncle, the alternate beneficiary, as a co-plaintiff to give him litigation support. The p.r.'s participation is nominal. Obtaining his dismissal would only have delayed this litigation and achieved nothing.

- The trust code provisions apply to **trusts created before, on, or after January 1, 2014**. Act No. 100, sec. 4(B)(1).
- “[A]ny rule of construction or presumption provided in this act” applies to the terms of governing instruments executed before January 1, 2014. Act No. 100, sec. 4(B)(4).

Four rules of construction and six presumptions are “provided in this act.” The revocation-on-divorce provision is not one of them. See sections IV(C) and IV(D), pp. 14-15, below.

Thus, the remedial provisions of the act apply to all judicial proceedings concerning estates unless prejudicial when applied to proceedings pending on the effective date of the act. The provisions for construing ambiguous provisions in relevant documents apply to all such documents. The relevant provisions creating presumptions apply only to wills. (See p. 15, below.)

* * * * *

No temporal provision of Act No. 100 suggests retroactive application of the revocation-on-divorce provision.

D. Notice to the insurer.

Section 62-2-507(g)(2) requires that

[w]ritten notice of the divorce . . . must be mailed to the [insurer’s] . . . main office . . . by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, or served upon the [insurer] . . . in the same manner as a summons in a civil action.

This ensures no double payment by an insurer ignorant of the divorce.

The insurer notice requirement could only apply to divorces filed *after* the statute was enacted. It is irreconcilable with retroactive application.

* * * * *

Nothing in Act No. 100 prescribes an intent to apply section 62-2-507 retroactively.

E. No implication of retroactive intent.

Absent an express prescription of retroactive intent, South Carolina courts do not indulge an *implication* of such intent unless the statute would bear no other interpretation. A retroactive intent must be “clearly apparent from the terms” of the statute. *Neel v. Shealy*, 261 S.C. 266, 273, 199 S.E.2d 542, 545 (1973). If not “required by the express

words of the statute, [retroactive intent] must necessarily be implied from such words . . . ”
Curtis v. Renneker, 34 S.C. 468, 491, 13 S.E. 664 (1891).

Nothing in the statute implies a retroactive intent.

II.

The court of appeals lost sight of the rules against retroactive application and mistakenly viewed section 62-2-507 as remedial.

Retroactivity analysis begins with perhaps the oldest and strongest presumption known to the civil law: a presumption against the retroactive operation of a statute. The standard of proof of retroactive intent by the legislature is the same as that which applies in a criminal case: retroactive intent must be proved by evidence so compelling that it leaves no reasonable doubt. *Ex parte Graham*, 47 S.C.L. (13 Rich. L.) 277, 279–80, 289–90 (1864).⁹

South Carolina’s retroactivity principles are identical to those of federal law. Retroactivity decisions of the U.S. Supreme Court and the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals have often been cited by the South Carolina Supreme Court.¹⁰

Both federal and South Carolina courts employ a robust presumption against statutory retroactivity. *See, e.g., Landgraf v. USI Film Prods.*, 511 U.S. 244, 265, 114 S.Ct. 1483, 128 L.Ed.2d 229 (1994); *Jenkins v. Meares*, 302 S.C. 142, 394 S.E.2d 317, 319 (1990).

Ward v. Dixie Nat’l Life Ins. Co., 595 F.3d 164, 172 (4th Cir. 2010). The Fourth Circuit concluded:

South Carolina courts have been, if anything, even more insistent than federal courts in demanding an unambiguous

⁹ *Accord: South Carolina Dept. of Revenue v. Rosemary Coin Machines, Inc.*, 339 S.C. 25, 28, 528 S.E.2d 416, 418 (2000); *American Nat’l Fire Ins. Co. v. Smith Grading & Paving, Inc.*, 317 S.C. 445, 454 S.E.2d 897, 899 (1994); *Hyder v. Jones*, 271 S.C. 85, 245 S.E.2d 123, 125 (1978).

¹⁰ *See, e.g., South Carolina Nat’l Bank v. South Carolina Tax Comm’n*, 297 S.C. 279, 376 S.E.2d 512, 523 (1989); *William C. Logan & Assoc. v. Leatherman*, 290 S.C. 400, 351 S.E.2d 146, 148 (1986); *Hercules, Inc. v. South Carolina Tax Comm’n*, 274 S.C. 137, 262 S.E.2d 45, 48 (1980).

expression of legislative intent before applying a statute retroactively

Ward, 595 F.3d at 179.

Although only a presumption, “the presumption against retroactive legislation is deeply rooted in our jurisprudence, and embodies a legal doctrine centuries older than our Republic.” *Landgraf* [*v. USI Film Products, Inc.*], 511 U.S. at 265, 114 S.Ct. 1483 (1994). It has been described as “[a]mong the most venerable of the [] [judicial] default rules,” *Tasios v. Reno*, 204 F.3d 544, 549 (4th Cir. 2000), a “timehonored presumption,” *Hughes Aircraft Co. v. U.S. ex rel. Schumer*, 520 U.S. 939, 946, 117 S.Ct. 1871, 138 L.Ed.2d 135 (1997), and a “rule of general application.” *Fernandez-Vargas v. Gonzales*, 548 U.S. 30, 37, 126 S.Ct. 2422, 165 L.Ed.2d 323 (2006) (citation and internal quotations omitted).

Ward, 595 F.3d at 172.

Our court of appeals lost sight of the presumption against retroactive application by mistakenly turning to cases from other states treating a revocation statute as remedial.

A remedial statute grants, expands, or contracts a remedy for the enforcement of an existing right.¹¹ A statute altering a remedy can be and often is meant to apply to pending litigation.

The revocation provision of Act No. 100 is the furthest thing from remedial. It nullifies the key provision of a life insurance contract. The Pennsylvania court said this about a similar revocation statute:

[T]he contractual impairment effected in this case is indeed severe, virtually total. Selection of a beneficiary is the entire point of a life insurance policy. The statute in this case eliminated the insured’s designation and replaced his primary beneficiary . . . with contingent beneficiaries who were not intended by the insured to be primary beneficiaries. The very essence of [the insured’s] contract with [the insurer] was undermined by the operation of the statute.

Paronese v. Midland Nat’l Ins. Co., 550 Pa. 423, 432, 706 A.2d 814, 818 (1998). The

¹¹ See, e.g., *Goff v. Mills*, 279 S.C. 382, 385, 308 S.E.2d 778, 780 (1983) (statute altering beginning date for statute of limitations “obviously remedial”); *Hercules, Inc. v. South Carolina Tax Comm’n*, 262 S.E.2d 45, 48, 274 S.C. 137, 143 (1980) (“a statute of limitations affects the remedy and not the right”). *Bradley v. School Board*, 416 U.S. 696, 94 S.Ct. 2006, 40 L.Ed.2d 476 (1974) (adjustment of the amount of an attorney fee award is remedial).

U.S. Supreme Court made similar remarks about Minnesota’s revocation statute:

[I]n revoking a beneficiary designation, the law makes a significant change. . . . [T]he “whole point” of buying life insurance is to provide the proceeds to the named beneficiary.

Sveen v. Melin, 138 S.Ct. 1815, 1822 (2018).

In rejecting a claim that a substantive change was merely remedial, the South Carolina Supreme Court once said:

If this [statute] is not substantive in nature, it is difficult to envision [one] which would be.

Bartley v. Bartley Logging Co., 293 S.C. 88, 359 S.E.2d 55, 56–57 (1987). *Accord: Southeastern Site Prep., LLC v. Atlantic Coast Builders*, 394 S.C. 97, 713 S.E.2d 650 (Ct. App. 2011).

As in *Bartley*, if the revocation-on-divorce provision is not substantive in nature, it is difficult to envision one which would be.

* * * * *

Nor is section 62-2-507 a *procedural* statute. In the Colorado case relied upon by the court of appeals,¹² the court decided that the revocation statute of that state is *procedural* because revocation is “a procedure”! That curious turn of phrase may be the law of Colorado but it surely is not the law of South Carolina. A statute is procedural if it changes a litigation procedure. See, e.g., *Kerr v. Richland Memorial Hosp.*, 383 S.C. 146, 678 S.E.2d 809 (2009); *Merchants Mut. Ins. Co. v. South Carolina Second Injury Fund*, 277 S.C. 604, 291 S.E.2d 667 (1982). Section 62-2-507 does not change litigation procedure.

The Colorado court appears to have been the only one to call a revocation statute “procedural” until our court of appeals did as well.

¹² *Estate of DeWitt v. DeWitt*, 54 P.3d 849 (Colo. 2002).

III.

In the cases from other states relied upon by the court of appeals, revocation was triggered not by divorce but by the policyholder's death.

The court of appeals did not compare the structure and language of Act No. 100 with that of the revocation statutes of the states whose cases so heavily influenced its decision. Not only do these statutes differ from one another, but each of them differs signally from Act No. 100 and section 62-2-507.

Construing specific language in the statutes of their jurisdictions — none like ours — four of the five courts relied upon by our court of appeals concluded that the revocation of the insured's choice of beneficiary does not take effect until the insured dies.¹³ Although never explained, apparently the idea is that the ex-spouse remains nominally the beneficiary until the moment when it would actually take effect — the policyholder's death.

In South Carolina as in the majority of states with revocation statutes, it is the insured's *divorce* which revokes the designation, not his death. Section 62-2-507(c).

IV.

Professor Waggoner's "donative transfer/rule of construction" theory was accepted by the court of appeals. That theory has no basis in Act No. 100 and was rejected by the U.S. Supreme Court in *Sveen v. Melin*.

The cases from other states relied upon by the court of appeals accepted an academic theory proposed by Professor Lawrence Waggoner, draftsman of the revised Uniform Probate Code, who included the revocation-on-divorce provision in his draft. These cases cannot be understood apart from the draftman's theory, cited with approval

¹³ *Estate of DeWitt v. DeWitt*, 54 P.3d 849 (Colo. 2002); *Stillman v. Teachers Ins. & Annuity Ass'n*, 343 F.3d 1311 (10th Cir. 2003) (predicting Utah law); *Thrivent Financial for Lutherans v. Andronescu*, 368 Mont. 256, 300 P.3d 117 (2013); *Buchholz v. Storsve*, 2007 S.D. 101, 740 N.W.2d 107 (2007).

by our court of appeals.

A. Professor Waggoner's theory.

Professor Waggoner foresaw that statutory cancellation of beneficiary in a life insurance policy purchased before the statute was passed would provoke a claim of impairment forbidden by the Contracts Clause. To shield the statute from constitutional challenge, he coined two theoretical devices.

The first he fashioned from whole cloth. Professor Waggoner posited that the designation of beneficiary is not really part of the life insurance contract at all. Rather, it is what he labeled a “donative transfer.” It is a kind of miniature will embedded in — but not a part of — the life insurance contract.¹⁴ Hence, its statutory nullification is not an abridgement of contract.

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