THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

RECEIVED

Feb 01 2024

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY  
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS

S.C. SUPREME COURT

HONORABLE MARVIN H. DUKES, III  
BEAUFORT COUNTY MASTER-IN-EQUITY AND  
SPECIAL CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE

---

Case No. 2023-000385  
Court of Appeals Opinion No. 5947

---

On Writ of Certiorari  
to the South Carolina Court of Appeals

---

Richard Walter Meier and the Estate of  
William Carl Meier, by and through Conrad Meier,  
its Personal Representative,

Respondents,

vs.

Mary J. Burnsed,

Petitioner.

---

BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

---

H. Fred Kuhn, Jr., Esquire  
Kuhn Law Firm, LLC  
1501 North Street  
Post Office Drawer 507

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

## ARGUMENT I

### EVERYTHING IN ACT NO. 100 POINTS TO ITS APPLICATION IN THIS CASE.

#### A. LEGISLATIVE INTENT AND PURPOSE

“The primary rule of statutory construction is to ascertain the intent of the General Assembly.” *S.C. Pub. Int. Found. v. Calhoun County Council*, 432 S.C. 492, 497, 854 S.E.2d 836, 838 (2021). It is accordingly helpful to examine the legislative intent and purpose behind Act. No. 100.

The underlying premise of the revocation-upon-divorce laws is that former spouses would not intend to benefit each other in any way other than that required by their Divorce Decree. Obviously, this is an assumption, but it is one steeped in common sense and every day observation and experience. See *Spitko, E. Gary, The Expressive Function of Succession Law and The Merits of Non-Marital Inclusion*, 41 Ariz. Law Review 1063, 1084 and footnote 112 (1999).

Revocation-upon-divorce is not a new concept. Revocation-upon-divorce was originally an English common law principal that grew out of the Doctrine of Revocation By Implication. See *Wilmit, Alan S. Applying the Doctrine of Revocation by Divorce to Life Insurance Policies*, 73 Cornell L. Rev., 653, 655 (1988). Eventually, revocation-upon-divorce became untethered from the Doctrine of Revocation By Implication, and it became its own common law doctrine in the early twentieth century. *Id.*, at 656. See also *Durfee, Revocation of Wills by Subsequent Change in the Condition or Circumstances of the Testator*, 40 Mich. L. Rev. 406, 406 (1942) (“Among the oldest rules in the Law of Wills are those by which a Will is held to be revoked by implication by certain changes in circumstances of the testator.”); and *Stein, Implied Revocation of Wills After Divorce and Property Settlement*, 4 Duke Bar Journal 122, 126 (1954) (“In the vast majority of cases the testator’s failure to revoke his Will subsequent to divorce is due to neglect, and that to

find an implied revocation usually gives effect to a testator's real intentions.”).

In 1946 the American Bar Association adopted a model probate code which provided “If after making a Will the testator is divorced, all provisions in the Will in favor of the testator's spouse so divorced are thereby revoked.” Model Probate Code, Section 53 (1946).

In 1962, the Counsel of the American Bar Association Section of Real Property Probate and Trust Law appointed a special committee to consider updating the model code to promote greater national uniformity. This project culminated with the model code being replaced in 1969 by the Uniform Probate Code. Amado, *Uniform Probate Code Section 6-201 A Proposal to Include Stocks and Mutual Funds*, 72 *Cornell L. Rev.*, 397, 406, Footnote 74 (1987). The 1969 Uniform Probate Code retained the revocation-upon-divorce provision for devises by Will to the testator's former spouse. Uniform Probate Code, §2-508 (1969).

In 1990 the Uniform Probate Code was amended to revoke upon divorce both probate and non-probate transfers “including revocable *inter-vivos* trusts, life insurance and retirement plan beneficiary designations, payable on death accounts, and other revocable pre-divorce dispositions made by a divorced individual to the former spouse.” Uniform Probate Code, §2-804; Waggoner, *Rights in our Multiple Marriage Society: The Revised Uniform Probate Code*, 26 *Real Property Probate and Trust Journal*, 683, 693 (1992). This inclusion of life insurance policies and other non-testamentary instruments to the revocation-upon-divorce statute was motivated by several factors. The drafters of the Uniform Probate Code enumerated these factors as follows:

In the twenty or so years between the original promulgation of the Code (in 1969) and the 1990 revisions, several developments occurred that prompted the systematic round of review. Three themes were sounded: (1) The decline of formalism in favor of intent-serving policies; (2) The recognition that Will substitutes and other *inter vivos* transfer have so proliferated that they now constitute a major, if not the major, form of wealth transmission; (3) The advent of the multiple-marriage society, resulting in a significant fraction of the population being married more than once and having stepchildren and children by previous

marriages and in the acceptance of a partnership or marital-sharing theory of marriage.

Uniform Probate Code, Article II, Prefatory Note (1990).

In short, the drafters of the Code recognized that the rationale for the revocation-upon-divorce provision applied equally to probate and non-probate transfers.

South Carolina's Probate Code is modeled after the Uniform Probate Code. See, e.g., *Wilson v. Dallas*, 403 S.C. 411, 429, 743 S.E.2d 746, 756 (2013). Following the 1990 amendment to the Uniform Probate Code, the South Carolina General Assembly amended §62-2-507 pursuant to 2013 South Carolina Laws Act 100 (SB 143). This amendment, which went into effect on January 1, 2014, added non-probate transfers to those affected by the revocation-upon-divorce statute. The Reporter's Comment to §62-2-507 explains:

“The 2013 amendment expands this section to cover life insurance and retirement plan beneficiary designations, transfer on death accounts, and other revocable dispositions to the former spouse that the divorced individual established before the divorce or annulment. This section effectuates a decedent's presumed intent: without a contrary indication by the decedent, a former spouse will not receive any probate or non-probate transfer as a result of the decedent's death.”

S.C. Code Ann. §62-2-507, Reporters Comment. This statement of our legislature's purpose and intent behind enacting Act No. 100 could not be any clearer.

## **B. APPLICATION OF ACT NO. 100 TO THIS CASE**

Mary argues that the Court of Appeals wrongfully failed to apply the presumption that statutes are presumed to be prospective in their application. The Court, however, did not ignore this presumption. To the contrary, it expressly recognized it. The Court of Appeals concluded, however, that the presumption against statutory retroactivity did not prevent it from concluding that the statute applied to the facts before it because: (1) It was not being applied retroactively; (2) Application of the statute was expressly authorized by the express terms of the statute; and (3)

The statute is remedial.

### 1. THE STATUTE IS NOT BEING APPLIED RETROACTIVELY

Mary argues that the Court of Appeals wrongfully failed to apply the “strongest maxim of statutory construction” that the General Assembly is presumed to have intended prospective application of its laws. This argument overlooks the fact, however, that prospective application of a statute is nothing more than a presumption, it is not an absolute mandate. In its Opinion, the Court of Appeals expressly recognized this presumption, but for good reasons as outlined in its Opinion determined that it did not prevent the application of the statute to the facts of this case inasmuch as application of the statute to the facts of this case was not an impermissible retroactive application.

There is nothing “backwards in time” about the application of the statute to the facts of this case, which involves the designation of a beneficiary in a life insurance policy. “A statute does not operate “retrospectively” merely because it is applied in a case arising from conduct antedating the statute’s enactment.” *Landgraf v. USI Film Products*, 511 U.S. 244, 269, 114 S.Ct. 1483, 1499 (1994). Simply because Bill’s divorce antedated the statute’s enactment does not automatically mean that the statute is retroactive. It is the event that **triggers** the application of the statute that controls. In this case, which involves the designation of a beneficiary in a life insurance policy, **the triggering event is the death of the insured**. It was not until Bill’s death that the statute applied and went into effect. It was only when Bill died, without either changing the beneficiary designation or reaffirming his designation of Mary as the beneficiary of his life insurance policy, that the statute went into effect. Bill’s death, not the divorce, is the event that triggered the application of the statute.

This exact issue was confronted by the Court in *Stillman v. Teachers Ins. & Annuity Ass’n*,

343 F.3d 1311 (10<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2003), in which the life insurance policy was purchased during the marriage, the parties then divorced, the revocation-upon-divorce statute was then enacted, and the policyholder then died without changing the designation of his ex-spouse as the beneficiary. The Court, noting the presumption against retroactive legislation, stated:

“The principal difficulty in applying the non-retroactivity presumption is in determining what constitutes retroactivity in a particular context. To determine whether a statute is being applied retroactively, it is necessary to compare two (2) dates: (1) The date the statute went into effect, and (2) The date of the activity to which the statute applies.”

*Id.*, 343 F.3d at 1315. Since the effective date of the statute is never in dispute, the key inquiry is about “what activity is targeted by the statute.” *Id.* The Court concluded that it was the policyholder’s **death** that triggered the application of the statute, as opposed to the divorce that had taken place years earlier. The Court concluded that only when the policyholder died could the application of the statute be determined since, up until he passed away, he could have changed the designation of the beneficiary on his policy or alternatively, he could have confirmed the designation. Accordingly, the statute did not go into effect, nor did the statute have any applicability, until the policyholder died. *Id.*

The same result on similar facts was reached in *In Re Estate of Dewitt*, 54 P.3d 849 (S.Ct. Colo. 2002). The sequence of events – marriage, life insurance policy taken out, divorce, statute passed, death of policyholder, was the same as in the instant case. The Supreme Court of Colorado found that the statute acted to revoke the designation of the ex-wife as the beneficiary of the policy, even though she remained the named beneficiary at the time of the insured’s death, stating:

“We find that the plain language of the foregoing provision indicates the General Assembly’s intent that the **death** of an insured-decedent on or after (the effective date of the amendment), triggers application of the statute, notwithstanding that the insurance contract may have been entered into, and the divorce may have occurred, before the effective date of the statute.”

*Id.*, 54 P.3d at 856 (emphasis in original).

Accordingly, the South Carolina Court of Appeals in its Opinion in this case simply concluded, as has almost<sup>1</sup> every other Court that has examined the issue, that the application of this statute to the facts of this case is prospective, not retroactive, inasmuch as the event that triggers the application of the statute is the death of the policyholder.

**2. APPLICATION IS EXPRESSLY AUTHORIZED  
BY THE EXPRESS TERMS OF THIS STATUTE**

Additionally, the Petitioner’s argument overlooks the simple fact that, as a plain matter of statutory construction, the statute expressly applies to the facts of this case. Stripped to its bare essentials, the statute mandates that “a Court Order . . . relating to . . . the divorce . . . of a marriage . . . revokes any revocable . . . beneficiary designation made by a divorced individual to the divorce individual’s former spouse in a governing instrument.” S.C. Code §62-2-507(c). Since Bill’s life insurance policy is a “governing instrument” within the meaning of §62-2-507(a)(4), and his designation of Mary as the primary beneficiary of his life insurance policy was and is “revocable” within the meaning of §62-2-507(a)(5), and a divorce is an act that revokes the designation of a spouse as the beneficiary of a life insurance policy in accordance with §62-2-507(c), then according to the plain, clear and unambiguous language of the statute, it applies to the circumstances of this case. When a statute’s language is plain and unambiguous, and conveys a clear and definite meaning, the Court has no right to impose another meaning. *Hodges v. Rainey*, 341 S.C. 79, 85, 533 S.E.2d 578, 581 (2000).

---

<sup>1</sup> One exception is based on the erroneous conclusion that such an application would be an unconstitutional Contracts Clause violation. See, *Metropolitan Life Insurance Company v. Melin*, 853 F.3d 410, 414 (CA8, 2017). This misconception was firmly laid to rest in *Sveen v. Melin*, 138 S.Ct. 1815 (2018) in which the United States Supreme Court firmly held that these statutes do not violate the Contracts Clause of the Constitution. *Id.*, 138 S.Ct. at 1818. The other exception is *Shaw v. U.S. Financial Life Insurance Company*, 2022 IL.App. (1<sup>st</sup>) 211533, \_\_\_ N.E.3d \_\_\_ (2022) whose revocation on divorce statute, unlike South Carolina, is not based on the Uniform Probate Code.

The clear meaning of Section 62-2-507 is reinforced by Section 4(B)(1) of Act No. 100<sup>2</sup> which expressly mandates that the statute applies to estates of decedents dying **after** January 1, 2014. Similarly, §4(B)(2) of Act No. 100 mandates that the statute applies to judicial proceedings concerning estates of decedents and trusts commenced on or **after** January 1, 2014. In her Petition, Mary attempts to re-write the foregoing provisions to read “probate estates” as opposed to “estates” which would include both probate and non-probate estates. It is respectfully submitted that if the General Assembly had meant to say “probate estates” it would have said so. Instead, it purposely chose the broader, all-encompassing reference to simply “estates”. It is worth noting that the driving force behind the enactment of §62-2-507, which extended the revocation-upon-divorce principle from wills to nontestamentary dispositions such as life insurance policies, was to eliminate the distinction between testamentary and nontestamentary transfers. S.C. Code Ann. §62-2-507, Reporter’s Comment.

Finally, any remaining doubt as to the application of the statute to the facts of this case should be removed by §4(B)(4) of Act No. 100, which expressly provides that “any rule of construction or presumption provided in this Act (applies) to governing instruments executed before” January 1, 2014. As previously noted, a life insurance policy is a “governing instrument” as defined in the statute, and the life insurance policy in this case was executed before January 1, 2014.

### **3. THE STATUTE IS REMEDIAL**

All of this make sense when the remedial purpose and legislative intent behind §62-2-507 is considered. Revocation-upon-divorce laws are designed to clarify and effectuate a decedent’s intent, not change it, after he or she is dead and unable to clarify his or her intent. These statutes

---

<sup>2</sup> Section 62-2-507 came into being in 2013 when the South Carolina General Assembly passed Act No. 100, with an effective date of January 1, 2014.

apply only if, after a divorce, the now deceased person has not taken the formal steps during his or her lifetime to clarify his or her intent. The underlying premise behind these revocation-upon-divorce laws is that former spouses would not intend to benefit each other in any way other than that required by their divorce decree. In this case, the divorce decree between Bill and Mary expressly provided that neither would have any financial obligation to the other in any form or fashion. In the decree, “each party waives any claim he/she may have against the other party.” ROA, pg. 126. With respect to life insurance, an insured retains the right and ability to amend his beneficiary designation and has the right to clarify his intent to include a former spouse as a beneficiary. It is only when the insured fails to confirm the beneficiary designation after his divorce and before his death that the revocation-upon-divorce law kicks in and deems that the decedent would not have wanted his ex-spouse to benefit under the life insurance policy.

This is not a new concept. As previously noted, it dates back to English common law. It grew out of the English common law Doctrine of Revocation By Implication and was originally applicable only to wills, but then over the years gradually expanded to include life insurance policies and other nontestamentary instruments such as trusts. When §62-2-507 was amended in 2013 the Reporter’s Comment explained that the purpose of the statute is simply to “effectuate a decedent’s presumed intent.” S.C. Code Ann. §62-2-507, Reporter’s Comment.

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